ORIGINAL

FILED

09/11/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0219

FILED

SEP 08 2023

Bowen Greenwood
Clerk of Supreme Court
State of Montana

Dirk S. Adams, *pro se*
140 Banks Street
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138
(406) 551-5022
dirkadams@mac.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
Supreme Court Cause No. **DA 23-0219**

Miki Adams)	
)	
Appellee-Petitioner,)	
vs.)	
)	Dirk Adams Appellant Brief
Dirk Adams,)	for Case DA 23-0219
)	(Related to Cases DA 22-0533
Appellant-Respondent)	and DA 23-0279)
)	
)	
)	

MONTANA SIXTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, PARK COUNTY

Miki Adams)	Cause No.: DR-20-43
)	
Petitioner,)	Hon. Y. LAIRD
vs.)	
)

Statement of the Issues

There are two issues presented by this appeal.

Issue One:

May a District Court acting in a dissolution case post-judgment find Dirk Adams (Dirk) in civil contempt for two years and issue a ten (10) year Permanent Order of Protection (POP) for failing to send a personal Apple I-Mac computer and its software and digital files to Miki Adams (Miki) when the parties made a mutual mistake as to the identity of the computer which in turn caused the District Court to err and to issue a contradictory order?

Issue Two:

May a District Court issue a post-judgment order denying relief on Dirk's substantive motion to protect his dissolution confidential financial and individual information which Miki repeatedly revealed, the District Court calling the motion meritless and frivolous without making any findings of fact or explaining its conclusions?

Statement of the Case

Dirk's Notice of Appeal is dated April 11, 2023.

This appeal, DA 23-0219, is related to appeals DA 22-5033¹ and DA 23-0279², and like them, arises out of the dissolution of the marriage of Dirk and Miki Adams in Park County numbered DR 20-43.³ The first appeal primarily⁴ concerned the April 18, 2023, post-judgment order of the then-presiding judge, the Hon. J. Oldenburg. The Hon. Judge J. Oldenburg retired at June 30, 2023.

The Hon. Judge Yvonne Laird then was called into the case. Dirk here appeals two of the Hon. Judge Y. Laird's post-judgment orders, one finding Dirk in contempt for two years and issuing a permanent order of protection (POP) against him in favor of Miki for ten years, and the other denying, without explanation, Dirk's request for relief from Miki's repeated violations of the confidentiality requirements of various earlier Court orders. The Hon. Judge Laird's orders were attached to Dirk's Notice of Appeal. The orders are dated March 16, 2023, (Contempt Order) (dkt#481) and March 30, 2023 (Information Order) (dkt#484).

¹The Montana Supreme Court has already denied this appeal.

²DA 23-0279, like DA 23-0217, concerns a post judgment order of the Hon. Judge Laird.

³The case was tried for two days March 31 and April 1, 2021. The District Court issued the Decree on September 27, 2021.

⁴The first appeal also objected to the award of legal fees to Miki in the September 27, 2021, Decree (dkt.#).

The Contempt Order, Dirk contends, respectfully, was not supported by either facts nor law, and was inconsistent with prior relevant orders of the Sixth District Court.

The Information Order summarily denied Dirk relief for Miki's repeated, material breaches of the Sixth District Court's prior orders on the confidentiality of the case record, the most recent violation of which occurred in February 2023.

Statement of Facts Relevant to this Appeal

Procedural Posture of this Case

Miki filed her fourth⁵ Motion for an Order to Show Cause (MOSC) on June 21, 2022, approximately 60 days after her third OTSC motion requesting both a contempt order and a POP, filed on February 2, 2002, was denied on April 18, 2022 (dkt.#391).

The Hon. Judge Oldenburg denied Miki's first application for a petition for a permanent order of protection in the September 27, 2001, Decree, instead ordering a one-year no-contact order. (dkt.#280). Subsequently, on April 18, 2022, Judge Oldenburg extended the no-contact order by five years, but denied a POP on the grounds that Dirk "had been punished enough." (dkt.#).⁶

⁶The Supreme Court affirmed this extended no-contact order.

Dirk responded to Miki's most recent Order to Show Cause and Petition on July 14, 2022, with a reply on August 25, 2022.

The Hon. Judge Y. Laird commenced a hearing on Miki's fourth MOSC on December 6, 2022, and then concluded it on January 25, 2023. Total hearing time was five (5) hours.

On March 16, 2023, the Hon. Judge Laird issued the Contempt Order (dkt.#481). That Order found Dirk in contempt primarily for allegedly failing to deliver an Apple I-Mac computer and software and digital files to Miki which the Hon. Judge J. Oldenburg purportedly had decreed belonged to Miki.

The Court also found other acts alleged to have been committed by Dirk to warrant her two-year contempt order and the ten (10) year POP.

The Parties' Mutual Mistake about the Number of Apple Computers:

The Divorce Decree awarded one Apple desk top computer known as an I-Mac to Miki as personal property. This one-sentence was the focus of the two hearings held by the Hon. Judge Laird.

Unfortunately, the hearings revealed a mutual mistake; both parties having misunderstood which computer was awarded to Miki by the Hon. Judge Oldenburg's Divorce Decree. And the District Court's contempt order, perhaps understandably, is confused

about the computers as well and leaves the issue of the decreed computer in flux as explained below.

Miki's descriptions of "her computer" to the District Court in connection with the trial were vague and contained no identifying information or specifications, using instead the possible location of the I-Mac computer in the ranch house.

As it turned out, Miki's description of the I-Mac was so ambiguous that both she and Dirk erred in attempting to comply with the Decree. Dirk thought there were only two I-Macs in the ranch house, an older one and the 2015 27" rectangular display slim profile I-Mac he used primarily. It was located in his office.

Miki was so confused by her own description of the I-Mac, that when she broke into Dirk's house three different times over two days without Court permission on October 25-26, 2021, she removed his 2015 slender profile I-Mac⁷ and stole it from Dirk's house because it was sitting on the kitchen desk.

Nor did Miki and her counsel in their June 21, 2022, Motion for OTSC and POP and their August 4, 2022, Reply and in Miki's affidavit of June 21, 2022, and in all of Miki's exhibits at the

⁷Apple changed the profile of the I-Mac in 2015, sliming it down significantly.

hearings provide meaningful, distinctive identifying information about the I-Mac she sought.

In fact there were at least two I-Mac computers,⁸ one of which was not in the ranch house, which met the description provided by Miki: (1) a 2011 27" rectangular display I-Mac⁹ and (2) a 2007 24" square display I-Mac.¹⁰ Obviously, at the time of the January 25, 2023, hearing, the 2007 I-Mac was 16 years old.

Miki testified late under cross at the December 2022 hearing that the computer she sought weighed less than the 2011 I-Mac Dirk produced on April 4, 2022,¹¹ offered fewer ports, and had a display that was squarer than the later manufactured rectangular

⁸Besides the 2015 slim profile I-Mac of which Dirk was the exclusive user.

⁹In the December hearing, Dirk described the 2011 I-Mac based upon his analysis of the then available information and research on the Apple website as the 2014 I-Mac. Later both Dirk and Miki worked out that this was in fact the 2011 I-Mac.

¹⁰Miki referred to the 2007 I-Mac as the 2008 I-Mac. In fact it was manufactured in 2007, which Dirk discovered by researching the serial number. This statement about the two computers is clear now in this brief, but certainly the testimony was confused after the December 6, 2022 hearing. Dirk believes it was clear at the end of the January 24, 2023, hearing. For example in the December 2022 hearing Miki originally testified that there were three relevant I-Macs. This stunned Dirk and led the Court to comment on his obvious distress at this testimony. (12/6/2022 Hearing Transcript at pg.126) By the end of the second hearing, Dirk believes both parties were stating there were the two computers at issue—the 2011 and the 2007.

¹¹This delivery was thirty-days late because the subject computer was in Montana and Dirk was in Cambridge, Massachusetts.

display 2011 model which had been shipped to her on April 4, 2022. Nor had she ever produced a photograph of the computer she actually sought until the January 2023 hearing (see Miki's 1/24/2023 Hearing Transcript Exhibit 4).

In good faith Dirk originally delivered the 2011 manufactured computer. The only other I-Mac in the house was one from 2015 which Dirk had purchased and continued to use at the time of the Divorce Decree. Because of his belief, he caused the software and files, which either by law did not belong to Miki or which she had not claimed, to be removed consistent from the 2011 I-Mac with Apple's directions on how to do so.

It was after Miki's description of the square display for the first time at the December 6, 2022, hearing, that Dirk (and Miki) realized, one and half years after trial, that there might be two I-Macs that met her earlier, vague description. This realization was based upon the fact that the 2011 computer had a rectangular display. That possibility sent him promptly on the search for a second computer with a square display located outside of the ranch house because he knew it was not in the ranch house. He found that computer on the second floor of a barn adjacent to the ranch house.

There is no evidence in this hearing record that Dirk knew before the December 6, 2022, hearing that there was a second I-

Mac that might have been confused with the 2011 rectangular display I-Mac.

Dirk testified that he had not removed any software of digital documents from the 16-year old computer. There was no opportunity to evaluate the software and files on the 2007 I-Mac afforded by the Court to Miki.

Other Facts Allegedly Supporting the Contempt Order

Miki made a number of factual allegations supporting her request for the Contempt Order. Those factual allegations either already had been resolved at the February 16, 2022, hearing and rejected or the factual allegations were either false or otherwise not reliable (Exhibit F to Dirk Response to Fourth MOTSC).

Facts Relevant to Dirk's MOTSC for Repeated Violations of the District Court Order Sealing Certain Confidential Personal and Financial Information

Miki Adams (Miki), with the aid of both her legal counsel, repeatedly has disclosed confidential personal and financial information developed during this dissolution to third parties and real estate service vendors. Those facts are not in dispute.¹²

¹²Those facts are set out in Dirk's MOTSC.

On March 2, 2023, Dirk moved the Court for an OSC to Miki for failing to comply with Judge Oldenburg's seal and confidentiality orders. The Court promptly denied that motion without even asking for a response from Miki, finding that his motion was meritless. No explanation for the basis of that finding was provided.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Abuse of Discretion Generally: An abuse of discretion occurs if a court exercises discretion based on a clearly erroneous finding of material fact, an erroneous conclusion or application of law, or otherwise acts arbitrarily, without conscientious judgment or in excess of the bounds of reason, resulting in substantial injustice. (citations omitted). Van Buskirk v. Gehlen, 2021 MT 87, ¶ 13, 404 Mont. 33, 484 P.3d 924, 933.

Contempt Finding in Dissolution Proceeding:

"Our standard for review of contempt orders, pursuant to our granting a writ of certiorari, is first to determine whether the court which found contempt acted within its jurisdiction and, second, to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support the findings of the court. Kauffman v. Twenty-First Judicial Dist. Court, 1998 MT 239, ¶ 16, 291 Mont. 122, ¶ 16, 966 P.2d 715, ¶ 16." Lee v. Lee, 2000 MT 67, ¶ 19, 299 Mont. 78, 996 P.2d 389, 394

Our standard of review of a district court's findings is whether substantial evidence supports those findings. *In re Marriage of Nevin* (1997), 284 Mont. 468, 472, 945 P.2d 58, 61 (citation omitted). Substantial evidence is the amount of relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. *Nevin*, 284 Mont. at 472, 945 P.2d at 61 (citation omitted). Lee v. Lee, 2000 MT 67, ¶ 20, 299 Mont. 78, 996 P.2d 389, 394-95

Permanent Order of Protection (POP): "This Court will not overturn a district court's decision to continue, amend, or make permanent an order of protection absent an abuse of discretion. *Boushie v. Windsor*, 2014 MT 153, ¶ 8, 375 Mont. 301, 328 P.3d 631; *Keller v. Trull*, 2007 MT 108, ¶ 7, 337 Mont. 188, 158 P.3d 429; see also *In re Marriage of Coogler*, 2004 MT 122, ¶¶ 14, 24, 321 Mont. 243, 90 P.3d 414 (citing § 40-15-202, MCA). A district court abuses its discretion when it acts arbitrarily without conscientious judgment or exceeds the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice. *Boushie*, This Court will not overturn a district court's decision to continue, amend, or make permanent an order of protection absent an abuse of discretion. *Boushie v. Windsor*, 2014 MT 153, ¶ 8, 375 Mont. 301, 328 P.3d 631; *Keller v. Trull*, 2007 MT 108, ¶ 7, 337 Mont. 188, 158 P.3d 429; see also *In re Marriage of Coogler*, 2004 MT 122, ¶¶ 14, 24, 321 Mont. 243, 90 P.3d 414 (citing § 40-15-202, MCA). A district court abuses its discretion when it acts arbitrarily without conscientious judgment or exceeds the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice." *Boushie*, 8; *Lockhead v. Lockhead*, 2013 MT 368, ¶ 12, 373 Mont. 120, 314 P.3d 915.

Review of Motion Denial: "In this case, the District Court summarily denied the Feeses' motion to set aside the entry of default without explanation. Although we can assume from this order that the District Court did not find good cause to set aside the entry of default, we cannot ascertain why the District Court found good cause lacking. Thus, we are compelled to reverse the District Court's order because we have no meaningful way to assess whether the District Court committed a slight abuse of discretion in refusing to set aside the entry of default." *Robinson v. Feese*, 2015 MT 290N, ¶ 8, 382 Mont. 407, 363 P.3d 1145

"Findings must be sufficient, however, to permit review without speculation into a district court's reasoning. *In re Bartsch*, ¶ 33." *In re Marriage of Crowley*, 2014 MT 42, ¶ 26, 374 Mont. 48, 53, 318 P.3d 1031, 1037

SUMMARY OF THE LEGAL ARGUMENT

The District Court Contempt Order finding that Dirk violated the Decree on an Apple I-Mac computer is an abuse of discretion based upon erroneous factual conclusions, erroneous conclusions of law unsupported by any legal analysis, and punishes Dirk severely for actions with regard to the computer which were taken in good faith and based upon a mutual mistake of the parties. Moreover, the District Court Order here was contradictory and required Dirk to perform tasks which the District Court in that same Contempt Order had found did not need to be performed.

To the extent the contempt and POP findings also relied upon other of Dirk's acts, those acts mostly occurred before Miki testified on February 22, 2022, that Dirk had not contacted nor attempted to contact her. The District Court's conclusions were an abuse of discretion and also were barred by res judicata and issue preclusion.

The District Court's denial of Dirk's MOTSC is not explained so it is not possible to determine upon what basis the District Court issued it.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Mutual Mistake About the Identity of the Decreed Computer

Miki's June 22, 2023, MOTSC sought to hold Dirk in contempt, for failing to deliver an I-Mac computer which she had been awarded in the Divorce Decree (Decreed Computer). This was Miki's fourth motion to hold Dirk in contempt. (dkt. ## 25, 56, 340) The District Court denied all three prior motions. Her most recent MOTSC, before the current one, was filed four months previously and was denied on April 18, 2022, by the Hon. Judge Oldenburg. This Supreme Court affirmed Judge Oldenburg's order.

Neither party disputes that originally Dirk had purchased an I-Mac for his personal and business use and that there continued to be on this I-Mac software and files he owned. At some time subsequent after Dirk purchased a new Apple I-Mac, Dirk permitted Miki and other household members, in addition to himself, to use the Apple computer by removing it from his office and placing it in common space in the kitchen (the "kitchen desk") because he had purchased a more current version of the I-Mac with a slim profile and a 27" rectangular display.

Miki characterized Dirk's placement of the old I-Mac as well as his purchase of a new I-Mac as a "gift" of the old I-Mac to her. The Dissolution Decree granted this I-Mac to Miki. The challenge as it turned out was determining which I-Mac that was.

Almost all five hours of the hearings were taken up with identifying the correct I-Mac computer. Dirk had delivered the I-Mac computer he thought was the correct one to Miki's counsel

Ellington on April 4, 2022, thirty days later than the District Court had ordered. The delivery was late because Dirk was residing in Cambridge, Massachusetts, and the computer commenced its journey at his ranch in Wilsall. It then went to Dallas, Texas where a third-party service removed from it the software and digital files Dirk owned.

Miki received the computer from her counsel and reviewed it approximately 60 days thereafter. Miki believed that the I-Mac Dirk delivered was not the one she had been awarded, largely because her files, digital photographs, and software were missing from the computer. She also was concerned that the computer had E-Bay (the digital auction house) labeling which appeared on the display screen when turned on.

There is no dispute now that the I-Mac delivered was manufactured in 2011¹³ and that its operating system worked. Nor is there any evidence after five (5) hours of testimony that there was more than one I-Mac computer which could have matched the Decreed Computer in the ranch house at the time of delivery of it on April 4, 2022.

Unfortunately, the hearings revealed a case of mutual mistake; both parties having misunderstood which computer was awarded to Miki by the Hon. Judge Oldenburg's Divorce Decree.

¹³Dirk originally thought it was a 2014 I-Mac.

And the District Court's contempt order, surprisingly, is confused about the computers as well and leaves the issue of the Decreed Computer unresolved as explained below.

Miki's descriptions of "her computer" to the District Court in connection with the trial were vague and contained no standard identifying information or specifications. For example, in Miki's Amended Declaration of Personal Property prepared by counsel Ellington dated March 26, 2021, (pg. 11: "Apple computer in kitchen (gifted from respondent to petitioner)";¹⁴ or in Miki's Attachment to Updated Final Disclosure dated March 1, 2021, (dkt.## 177,1870: "I-Mac computer in kitchen;" and in Miki's Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree dated August 20, 2021, (Exhibit MM, dkt.#269): "Apple computer in kitchen gifted by Dirk."

With regard to the I-Mac computer Miki claimed, the District Court in Conclusion of Law para.72 awarded to Miki the: "**Apple computer in kitchen gifted by Dirk.**" (bolded and underlined for ease of reference) granting her request in a single sentence, adopting her description in the Decree.

¹⁴Dirk did not believe he had ever gifted a computer to Miki; he believed its ostensible location on the kitchen desk, the presence of his software and work on the computer, and Miki's ownership of a recently manufactured Mac laptop, meant the I-Mac was intended for the use of both parties.

Nor did Miki and her counsel in their June 21, 2022, Motion for OTSC and their August 4, 2022, Reply and in Miki's affidavit of June 21, 2022, and in all of Miki's initial exhibits for the hearings provide any more meaningful, distinctive identifying information about the I-Mac she sought.

Miki use of location to define the computer she claimed was problematic. She had not used the I-Mac that was purportedly in the kitchen since January 2019 as she had not lived in Montana since she left at that time three years ago. Moreover, except for her late October 2021 ranch house break-in, she had not been in the ranch house since May 2020. As a result, she did not have any information as to what I-Mac, if any, stood on the kitchen desk.

As it turned out, Miki's description of the I-Mac was so ambiguous that both she and Dirk erred in attempting to comply with the Decree. Dirk thought there were only one eligible I-Mac in the ranch house. The 2015 slim profile display I-Mac which Dirk used exclusively could not possibly have been the Decreed Computer because only Dirk used it.

In fact, Miki's description of the I-Mac as one that sat on the ranch house kitchen desk was so misleading that when she broke into Dirk's house without Court permission on October 25-

26, 2021, she stole his 2015 slender profile I-Mac¹⁵ which had been moved to the kitchen by Dirk. She returned it subsequently.

In an order on November 17, 2022, the Hon. Judge Laird earlier had provided guidance on how she thought a lay person should be able to identify a computer.¹⁶

Actually it was not until late in the hearing on December 6, 2022, responding to Dirk's cross-examination that Miki finally made an attempt to meet Judge Laird's order on identifying a computer, she testified about the identifying numbers, marks and other distinct features, including a description of the display, of the Apple I-Mac computer she believed she sought.

Miki testified at the December 6, 2022, hearing that she thought the computer she sought weighed less than the 2011 I-Mac Dirk delivered, offered fewer ports, and had a square display, rather than the later manufactured rectangular display of the 2011 model which had been shipped to her on April 4, 2022.

¹⁵Apple changed the profile of the I-Mac in 2015, sliming it down significantly.

¹⁶"The identification of one's computer is a common endeavor in which lay persons routinely engage at work, during school, and at home. This is often done without the aid of experts by observing **identifying numbers, marks, and other distinct features on the exterior of the device** and by recognizing the **display, settings, files and programs saved in the computer's software.**"(emphasis added).

In other words, it was nine (9) months after Dirk delivered the 2011 I-Mac that he learned at the hearing enough information to discern there might be a second computer because of her description of the display shape.

There is no evidence in this hearing record that Dirk knew before the December 6, 2022, hearing that there was a second I-Mac that might have been confused with the 2011 computer. He could not have known that there was a 2007 I-Mac on April 4, 2022, when he sent the 2011 Computer to counsel Ellington because at that time Miki had not provided any identifying characteristics. And Miki did not grasp that there were two I-Mac computers and that Dirk had sent the later-dated one.

If she had known those specific, identifying details around the date she picked up the April 4, 2022, delivery, she surely would have mentioned that in her affidavit accompanying the June 2022 motion that commenced this proceeding.

There is no evidence in this hearing record that Dirk knew before the December 6, 2022, hearing that there was a second I-Mac that might have been confused with the 2011 computer he provided to Miki. The District Court conclusion that the timestamp on a picture of the second I-Mac taken after the December 6, 2022, hearing adjourned does not prove he was aware

of the second computer before April 4, 2022. That timestamp proves rather that Dirk was diligent in pursuing a second computer after the conclusion of the December 6, 2022 hearing around 1:15 pm. Nor was it rational, if Dirk knew of the 16-year old computer at the time the 2011 was delivered to Miki, for Dirk to spend the money and effort to clean up the 2011 I-Mac and to ship it instead of a 16-year old computer no longer even serviced by Apple. No other evidence of Dirk's alleged pre-hearing knowledge was recited by the District Court.

After the December 6, 2022, hearing Dirk immediately contacted his ranch tenant to look for a second I-Mac outside of the ranch house. Dirk's ranch tenant found and removed the 2007 I-Mac from the log barn next to the ranch house, turned it on, and connected it to the internet. Remotely, Dirk then began to run tests on it. He completed a number of tests on the I-Mac and determined from research on the Apple website that the I-Mac was manufactured in 2007, possessed the square 24" screen, and was lighter in weight than the 2011 model Dirk originally had shipped to Miki's counsel. Dirk research was unable to confirm Miki's testimony about the I-Mac with the 24" square screen having fewer ports than the 2011 I-Mac. Once he had completed as much research as was possible Dirk delivered it to the Park County District Court room on January 25, 2023.

Dirk testified that the 2007 I-Mac with the 24" square screen likely was the computer described inadequately in Miki's original request for an I-Mac computer. Dirk's testimony was uncontradicted by any other testimony during the hearing.

The Montana Supreme Court has recognized that a mutual mistake of fact means that no contract can be formed.

"A mutual mistake occurs when, at the time the contract is made, the parties share a common misconception about a vital fact upon which they based their bargain. *Carey v. Wallner* (Mont.1986), 725 P.2d 557, 43 St.Rep. 1706. Such a mistake is a proper ground for rescission. Section 28-2-1711, MCA; *Wallner*, 725 P.2d at 561." *Mitchell v. Boyer*, 237 Mont. 434, 437, 774 P.2d 384, 386 (1989), see also *Kruzich v. Old Republic Ins. Co.*, 2008 MT 205, ¶ 25, 344 Mont. 126, 131, 188 P.3d 983, 987.

A mutual mistake causes the parties to start again once the mutual error is discovered, which is exactly what Dirk did. Dirk did deliver the 2007 Decreed Computer.

The District Court Order is Confusing and Contradictory on the Number of Computers and Their Identity

Just as importantly, even the District Court could not sort out the computers in its Contempt Order. The District Court in its Contempt Order labels the Apple I-Mac computer delivered to the Court at that second hearing as the *Discovered Computer*. Having just named it and distinguished

it, the District Court says nothing further about the Discovered Computer.

Instead it orders Dirk to send the *Awarded Computer*, defined as the computer the Divorce Decree awarded to Miki, to Miki's counsel. There is no explanation by the Court of the identification or characteristics of the *Awarded Computer*.

But, there is also the suggestion in the Court's language that the *Discovered Computer* might be the *Awarded Computer* as the Order contains this language, "...based on this and other evidence presented at hearing, the Court finds that the *Awarded Computer* was not lost as Dirk asserts, and that rather than shipping the *Awarded Computer* as ordered, Dirk hid it in a barn and mailed the *Shipped Computer* in its place in violation of the Interim Order. The Court makes no findings as to the present condition of the *Awarded Computer*." The Court had earlier recited that the *Discovered Computer*, (just like the *Awarded Computer*) had been found in Dirk's barn. It is not clear if the Court regards the *Discovered Computer* and the *Awarded Computer* as two distinct computers or as the same computer. Therefore it is not clear if the Court thinks there are two computers (*Shipped, Discovered/Awarded*) or three computers (*Shipped, Discovered, Awarded*) involved in the hearings.

The Court heard Dirk's extensive, uncontradicted testimony about the *Discovered Computer* on the second hearing date. Apparently though, the District Court thought there were two I-Macs hidden in the log barn even though there is no testimony or evidence to support such a conclusion. Also the Court's Contempt Order mistakenly states that with regard to the *Shipped Computer* (as set out below, to avoid any confusion, Dirk would label this the 2011 I-Mac), that Miki testified it had a squarer screen than the *Awarded Computer*. Actually, Miki's testimony on January 24, 2023, was not that. Miki's testimony was that it was the *Awarded Computer* that had the square screen.

For the purpose of clarity in this brief, there are only two computers, a 2007 24" square display I-Mac computer which is the *Awarded Computer*, as it turned out, and a 2011 27" rectangular display I- Mac which is the *Shipped Computer*.

Dirk introduced Exhibits NN (2007 I-Mac) and 00 (2014 I-Mac) at trial¹⁷ providing the technical specifications of the two computers. (The 2007 Computer model has been discontinued and is no longer supported by Apple because it is 16 years old).

¹⁷Both were admitted into evidence.

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