IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0219

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:

MIKI ADAMS,

Petitioner and Appellee,

and

DIRK ADAMS,

Respondent and Appellant.

APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from Montana Sixth Judicial District Court, Park County

Cause No. DR-34-2020-43

Before the Honorable Yvonne Laird, Presiding.

APPEARANCES:

DIRK ADAMS
140 Banks Street
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138
Telephone: (406) 551-5022
dirkadams@mac.com
Appellant Pro Se

ADRIENNE ELLINGTON
Law Office of Adrienne Ellington, PLLC
1700 West Koch, Suite 9
Bozeman, Montana 59715
Telephone: (406) 602-4200
Email: adrienne@ellingtonlegal.com

JAMI REBSOM
Jami Rebsom Law Firm, P.L.L.C.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court was presented with substantial, credible evidence to support a finding that Dirk committed contempt by failing to deliver Miki’s awarded

computer to her as specified in both the Decree and Interim Order. Dirk cannot show the District Court's findings of contempt are clearly erroneous.

The District Court was further presented with substantial, credible evidence when it issued a permanent order of protection in favor of Miki against Dirk. Dirk cannot show the District Court's order was arbitrary, rendered without conscientious judgment, or exceeded the bounds of reason.

Lastly, the District Court acted well within its discretion to control post-trial procedure when it issued a bench order proscribing the parties from filing further motions or briefs before a decision on Miki's motion for contempt and permanent order of protection had been issued. When Dirk filed two motions in violation of the District Court's bench order, the District Court acted within its inherent authority and discretion to deny Dirk leave to file his additional post-hearing motions and briefs.

ARGUMENT

1. Did the District Court err by holding Dirk in contempt of the Decree of Dissolution?

A district court in a dissolution case has continuing jurisdiction to enforce its orders regarding matters of property disposition. *Lee*, ¶ 49. “[D]isobedience of any lawful judgment, order, or process of the court” constitutes a contempt of court. Section 3-1-501(1)(e), MCA.

The District Court's Decree awarded Miki possession of the iMac, and the Interim Order specified the procedures Dirk was to follow to provide Miki with computer she was awarded. Based on Miki's testimony and evidence presented, the District Court concluded that Dirk removed the data that should have transferred with the computer to Miki, and sent her the incorrect computer. Based on this testimony, the District Court concluded that Dirk violated the Decree and Interim Order.

Dirk's "disobedience" of the Decree and Interim Order was sufficient to support a finding that he was in contempt of court. *See* § 3-1-501(1)(e), MCA. *Novak*, ¶ 37. The District Court did not err when it determined Dirk was in contempt of these lawful orders of the Court.

Further, the District Court's order provided definite, certain, specific directives to Dirk to follow in order for him to cure his contempt. *See Goodover v. Lindsey's Inc.*, 257 Mont. 38, 42, 847 P.2d 699, 701 (1993) (citations omitted) (a contempt order will stand on appeal if the terms of the order are "definite, certain, and specific."). These directives included requiring Dirk to restore the data he testified he previously removed to the computer awarded to Miki, ship the correct computer that had been awarded to Miki with the restored data, as well ship the hard drive he used to remove the data to Miki, by a date certain. (Doc. 353).

Dirk's request that the District Court's order should be reversed to "reflect the actual facts of the computer ownership issue" and dispute over the computer's software and digital files. (Op. Br., at 34). What Dirk is really asking this Court to do is reweigh the evidence presented at the hearing, which this Court will not do. *See In re Marriage of Lewis*, 2020 MT 44, ¶ 12, 399 Mont. 58, 458 P.3d 1009. The District Court's contempt order should be affirmed.

2. Did the District Court err when it issued a Permanent Order of Protection against Dirk?

Under § 40-15-202(1), MCA, a district court has discretion to "determine whether good cause exists for the temporary order of protection to be continued, amended, or made permanent," following a hearing. Further, "[i]n a dissolution proceeding, the district court may, upon request, issue either an order of protection for an appropriate period of time or a permanent order of protection." Section 40-15-204(2), MCA.

Miki testified that Dirk continued harassing her despite the No-Contact Order when he issued subpoenas for Miki's bank records in the various lawsuits he initiated against some of Miki's family members. (12/6/22 Tr., 18:18-25; 19:1-23; 20:1-12). Miki also testified that Dirk had her vehicle photographed outside of her workplace after the initial No Contact Order went in effect, and tried to introduce these photographs in his other cases he brought against Miki's family members. (12/6/22

Tr., 53:17-20). Miki also stated that the No-Contact Order currently in place was insufficient to protect her from Dirk's attempts to continue stalking and harassing her and requested the order be made permanent. (12:6/22 Tr., 22:23-25; 23:1-10; Doc. 428).

Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, the District Court had good cause to issue its Permanent Order of Protection against Dirk. The District Court is in the best position to evaluate the credibility and demeanor of witnesses, and its determination regarding the weight and strength of the evidence presented will not be second-guessed by this Court on appeal. *Lewis*, ¶ 8 (quotations and citations omitted). The District Court's order should be affirmed.

3. Did the District Court err when it denied Dirk leave to file post-hearing motions after the contempt hearing?

“District courts have wide latitude in controlling courtroom procedure.” *State v. Pedersen*, 2003 MT 315, ¶ 26, 318 Mont. 262, 80 P.3d 79. *See also Deere & Co. v. Mont. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, OP 22-0101, at 3 (Mont. Mar. 22, 2022) (quoting *Henrickson v. State*, 2004 MT 20, ¶ 35, 319 Mont. 307, 84 P.3d 38) (“A trial court has ‘inherent discretionary power to control trial administration.’”). As part of this inherent authority, the district court has the power to issue rulings governing post-trial motions and proceedings. *Moore*, 285 Mont. at 190, 948 P.2d at 213. This Court has declined to disturb a district court's discretionary rulings

governing post-trial procedure absent an abuse of discretion. *Moore*, 285 Mont. at 190, 948 P.2d at 213.

Given the volume of filings in the case, the District Court acted within its discretion to control post-trial procedure when it limited the parties from filing any additional motions or briefs before the Court could issue its decision on Miki's contempt motion and request for a permanent order of protection. (1/24/23 Tr., 66: 10-18). Dirk disregarded the District Court's clear directive, and the District Court subsequently acted within its discretion to deny Dirk leave to file his motions. Dirk cannot establish the District Court's order was arbitrarily rendered, without employment of conscientious judgment, or that it exceeded the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice. *Capser*, ¶ 6. The District Court's order should be affirmed.

MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

Pursuant to M. R. App. 19(5), this Court may "award sanctions to the prevailing party in an appeal . . . determined to be frivolous, vexatious, filed for purposes of harassment or delay, or taken without substantial reasonable grounds." Available sanctions "include costs, attorney fees, or such other monetary or non-monetary penalty as the Supreme Court deems proper under the circumstances." M.

R. App. 19(5). M. R. App. 19(3) also entitles a prevailing party to costs incurred on appeal, including “the costs of reproducing briefs and necessary appendices.”

In *Lee v. Lee*, this Court awarded attorney fees on appeal where one party showed a “significant disdain for the integrity of the judicial process.” 2000 MT 67, ¶ 66, 299 Mont. 78, 996 P.2d 389 (quotations omitted). This Court also stated that “while pro se litigants may be given a certain amount of latitude in their proceedings, they may not proceed in such a fashion as to abuse the judicial process and prejudice the opposing party’s interests.” *Lee*, ¶ 66 (citations omitted).

Dirk has presented no real legal or factual basis for bringing his second appeal. Throughout the lower court proceedings and now on appeal, Dirk has behaved with disdain for the integrity of the judicial process by disregarding multiple judicial orders and continuing to file frivolous motions and then appeal them. Dirk’s efforts can only be construed as delaying final resolution of this case and prejudicing Miki’s interests. As such, Miki respectfully requests that this court order Dirk to reimburse her for the fees and costs she incurred at the district court contempt proceedings and in defending against this frivolous appeal.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Miki respectfully requests this Court affirm the District Court’s discretionary, post-trial orders.

Miki further respectfully requests her attorney fees and costs incurred at the district court contempt proceedings and in responding to this appeal be awarded to her pursuant to M. R. App. 19(3) and (5).